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PREFACE


‘A city . . . in which Chateaubriand and Voltaire’s genius was awakened, where Louis-Napoleon dreamt of a new Europe, where Verlaine wept – can such a city lack a soul?’


PAUL MORAND


Concealed within the great cosmopolitan metropolis that is London there lies a French city. Any visitor, whether French or English, wandering at random through its streets, could not fail to notice the many clues left behind: why do streets such as Beauchamp Place or Beaufort Street have French names? Why do the royal family have a French motto, ‘Dieu et mon droit’? How did so many French works of art end up in London collections? Why are there commemorative plaques to Voltaire, Rimbaud and Verlaine, and a statue of Marshal Foch in London? To find the answers one must go back to the eleventh century, when William of Normandy, a vassal of the king of France, invaded England in 1066 in order to claim his inheritance. This invasion, which brought with it the language and culture of France, was the only one ever to succeed, and it would transform the course of British history. It marked the beginning of a long-lasting and uneasy relationship between the two countries, constantly veering between admiration and mistrust.


Since that time, French men and women of all social classes and professions have flocked to Britain, greatly contributing to the wealth of the country and of London in particular. Although many are now forgotten, others are still remembered, and their stories reveal an aspect of the British character that is rarely described, namely the warmth of the welcome extended to its so-called traditional enemies, when they came in search of asylum: persecuted Huguenots, royalists escaping from the French Revolution, political exiles in the nineteenth century, right up to the Free French during the Second World War. As well as these refugees, hundreds of French artists, writers and intellectuals came to seek inspiration in London. It is impossible to mention any but a few of these French visitors, but short portraits of some of the most captivating or strange characters can bring to life some of those who left their mark on the city. Even Napoleon, although he never came to London, left his traces. An English reader might perhaps be surprised to learn about the French origins of such famous Britons as David Garrick, Isambard Kingdom Brunel and Augustus Pugin as well as of the grandest hotels in London; also of how much the French influenced the renewal of English Catholicism in the nineteenth century.


After each chapter is a list of places (following the order of the text) in London and its outskirts where the French lived and worked – an opportunity for some interesting and unusual expeditions.
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NORMAN ENGLAND


A LASTING FRENCH INFLUENCE


‘England is an old French colony which turned out badly’


GEORGES CLEMENCEAU


Apart from the dig at ‘perfidious Albion’, Clemenceau’s description of England as an ancient colony of France has a certain historical accuracy. It takes us back to the beginning of the last millennium when, in 1002, the English king Ethelred married Emma of Normandy. She had several children, one of whom was known, because of his great piety, as Edward the Confessor. After his father was deposed by King Canute of Denmark in 1016, Edward spent thirty years in exile in Normandy, before being recalled to England in 1042, where he married Edith Godwinson. When he died without heirs on 4 January 1066, his wife’s brother Harold, an important figure at the court, claimed, with the support of the English barons, that he had been promised the throne. He pretended to have forgotten that he had been sent to Normandy by Edward to offer the crown to his nephew William, and that he had sworn allegiance to him.


The result of this betrayal was the Norman conquest of England. William, outraged by the usurper’s coronation at Westminster Abbey on 6 January 1066 and assured of support from the pope, crossed the Channel in September, and won a great victory at the Battle of Hastings where Harold was killed. William, henceforth known as the Conqueror, was crowned on Christmas Day 1066 in Westminster Abbey. It took him five years to establish his authority. The agitated atmosphere of these times can be illustrated by one tragic misunderstanding: just after the coronation the Norman soldiers posted around the Abbey took the shouts of acclamation for cries of revolt, and began setting fire to the surrounding houses. In the ensuing panic the congregation fled and the ceremony was brought to a hasty and undignified end.


The Normans had to deal with several uprisings between 1067 and 1071: they were just seven thousand men, facing a hostile population of between one and two million people. In this precarious situation and to protect the Thames valley, they built a series of fortresses in and around London, including Baynard Castle, Montfichet, the Tower of London and Windsor Castle. At the beginning of his reign, however, the Conqueror made no attempt to change existing institutions, and addressed his new subjects with these words: ‘William, the King, salutes all the burghers in London, French or English, in a friendly fashion. And I would have you know that I wish to leave with you the enjoyment of all the laws that were yours at the time of King Edward’.1 However, in the course of suppressing one revolt after another, the King gradually wiped out the Anglo-Saxon aristocracy, and transferred their lands and the governance of the state and the church to Normans. By 1070 all Anglo-Saxon prelates had been replaced by Norman bishops. The king’s friend and advisor, Abbot Lanfranc, from the Abbaye aux Hommes in Caen, became Archbishop of Canterbury.


In 1086, William ordered a census of all property throughout the kingdom, in order to fix rates of taxation. In this extraordinary document everything in the country is listed, from buildings and lands to animals, windmills and even duck ponds. The Domesday Book reveals a huge transformation in the ownership of property: more than four thousand small Anglo-Saxon landowners had already been replaced by fewer than two hundred barons, mostly Norman. They all retained their possessions across the Channel, too – England and Normandy would henceforth be a single state, dominated by the new Anglo-Norman aristocracy. That arrangment lasted until 1204, when John Lackland lost Normandy.


Introduction of a French feudal system


The Normans, having unified the country with their reforms, proceeded with the successful introduction of a French feudal system. The lord in his castle would ensure the protection of his people. In judicial matters, the local magistrates were replaced by a judge from the royal court assisted by a jury. The Confederation of the Cinque Ports organised coastal defences and transport between England and Normandy. French merchants and artisans developed commerce between England and the continent and their guilds were encouraged to organise the administration of the City of London, under the authority of the Lord Mayor. Romanesque and then Gothic art flourished and fortresses, churches, abbeys and public buildings were built throughout England. The addition of the territories of Anjou and then Aquitaine to the crown’s possessions only served to increase the new masters’ cultural domination; henceforth, until the thirteenth century, the English aristocracy spoke French. The Normans encouraged universities in Oxford and Cambridge. Jean de Ballieul, descendant of an Anglo-Norman baron who arrived at the time of William Rufus and was the father of the king of Scotland, founded Balliol College in 1263. The French Queen Marguerite d’Anjou, wife of Henry VI, founded Queen’s College in 1448. These early Norman monarchs strengthened their personal authority and that of the Crown, but in 1215 the unpopularity of John Lackland led the barons to impose the Magna Carta on him, putting an end to absolute monarchy.


The Norman Conquest marked the beginning of a long period of instability in relations between England and France. The latter was now dealing with what was simultaneously an administrative dependency of the Duchy of Normandy and a kingdom with extensive possessions on the continent. For almost four centuries, until the end of the Hundred Years’ War, the Anglo-Norman monarchs would continue to pursue their dream of uniting the two kingdoms. They did this by many different means, ranging from negotiation to force, and from marriage to outright conquest, and they very nearly succeeded in their enterprise. Many of them spent the greater part of their lives outside England. Henry II (1154-89), husband of Eleanor of Aquitaine, spent only thirteen of his thirty-five years’ reign in his English kingdom. Their son Richard the Lionheart (1189-99) was only there for six months of his ten-year reign. John Lackland (1199-1216) only resigned himself to life in England after losing almost all his French possessions in 1204. Edward I (1272-1307) held his court in Bordeaux until 1289. Finally, Henry V (1413-22), still trying in vain to gain the double crown, spent half his reign waging war in France.


The extent of English possessions on the continent fluctuated according to battles and royal marriages. The king of England, who was also the duke of Normandy, often owned more territory in France than the king of France himself, despite the fact that he remained his vassal and owed him allegiance. After the marriage of Henry Plantagenet to Eleanor of Aquitaine, English lands in France were larger than the French dominions, and remained so until John Lackland lost Normandy and Anjou.


The Anglo-Norman aristocracy, with its lands and relations in France, found its loyalties inevitably torn between the two opposing claims – the English one to the throne of France and the French to the throne of England. Each country attempted to profit from the mistakes and weaknesses of the other. So, in 1216, the English barons invited the French King Louis VIII to London to offer him the crown of England. The following year, after the death of John Lackland, Louis was forced to withdraw under pressure from Pope Innocent III and to make way for King John’s nine-year-old son, Henry III.


England, for its part, laid claim to the French crown several times, and came close to obtaining it. When, in 1322, Charles IV le Bel died without an heir, Edward III claimed the throne as the son of Isabelle of France and therefore the legitimate heir. In order to justify their rejection of him, the French invoked the Salic law, which did not recognise a female line of inheritance, and installed a new dynasty by giving the throne to Charles IV’s cousin, Philippe VI of Valois. The Hundred Years’ War, which in fact lasted from 1337 until 1453, was the result of this crisis in the succession.


After the English victory at Agincourt in 1415, the English King Henry V married Catherine of Valois, daughter of the French King Charles VI, and had himself recognised as the heir to the French crown; he then awaited the death of the ‘mad King’ Charles VI in order, finally, to establish the double monarchy. Unfortunately, Henry V died at Vincennes in 1422, six weeks before the King of France. Since his son Henry VI was a nine-month-old baby, an English regent was installed in Paris. The wind then turned in favour of the French when Joan of Arc appeared, to take her place in history by helping the Dauphin Charles to ‘kick the English out of France’; he was crowned in Reims in 1429, under the name of Charles VII. Since Henry V had died before Charles VI, the French felt that his son could not inherit a crown that his father had never worn. The English, however, crowned the young Henry VI King of France in Paris in 1431. But the French provinces eventually rallied round Charles VII, and the gradual loss of English possessions in France marked the end of both the English dream of a joint monarchy and the Hundred Years’ War. And so the long period of confusion begun by the Norman Conquest came to an end.


The English possessions on French soil produced benefits on many levels. In the commercial field, Aquitaine and Anjou were able to trade their wines and salt for English wool, still the best in Europe, or for tin or wood. To this day, Bordeaux wine is known in England as claret, from the old French clairet, meaning a light red wine. Around 1300, 22 million litres were imported from Gascony, bringing great riches to the Anglo-Norman barons, who controlled production, trade and consumption. Most of the import–export businesses were run by Gascons living in London, although English merchants eventually took control of them and began to transform London into an international commercial centre.


The English even made profits out of the long years of fighting: simple soldiers as well as barons made fortunes from the pillage of the rich towns and lands of the continent, as well as the exorbitant ransoms demanded for the higher-ranking French prisoners (they were generally kept in the Tower while they waited for their families to decide to buy them back). The Savoy Palace was luxuriously rebuilt in the middle of the fourteenth century by Henry, Duke of Lancaster, with the proceeds of his French campaigns.


Honi soit qui mal y pense!


After its arrival with the Norman Conquest, the French language was spoken at the English court for more than three hundred years. It was the language of the aristocracy, the church and the administration, while English remained that of the common people. English only began to be spoken again by the ruling classes after the loss of Normandy at the beginning of the thirteenth century; it became re-established during the next century, reinforcing a new sense of national identity. The first English transcription of parliamentary debates appeared in 1362, and in the same year English became the official language of the law courts. After 1385, French was no longer used for teaching in schools. This movement was accelerated under Henry IV (1399-1413), the first king of England since the conquest whose mother tongue was English.


Under Henry V, the interminable quarrel with France brought about a popular rejection of all things French. However, the Norman imprint was by now deeply rooted in the language, and numerous traces remain in the English vocabulary, reflecting its past predominance, both cultural and political. These are found in judicial terms (mortgage, testament, litigation, judge, prison), commerce (commerce, account), the arts (music, poem, art, beauty, romance, colour), fashion (veil, collar, costume), religion (abbey, priest, saint, virgin), the court (baron, prince, marquess, duke) and even in sport. Tennis comes from the French tenez, from the jeu de paume, a precursor of the modern game popular at the French court. The common people, however, had never stopped speaking English. Saxon words were used to describe live animals such as the cow, pig and sheep, while the ruling and administrative classes referred to the same animals, once they arrived on their plates, by their French names of beef, pork and mutton. Many family and place names have inescapably Norman origins: Grosvenor (Grand Veneur), Beaumont, Beaufort, Beauchamp, Villiers and so on.


It is easy to spot other vestiges of the Norman administration in English institutions: juries still exist, and the British minister of finance is known as the Chancellor of the Exchequer, a title originating from the Échiquier de Normandie, an assembly of dignitaries surrounding the duke. Aldermen represent the guilds of the City of London, electing from among themselves a Lord Mayor who, in a procession that still appears medieval, rides through the City in November to inaugurate his function. The Confederation of the Cinque Ports, presided over by the Lord Warden (from the French gardien), has kept its original name, as has its president who, appointed by the sovereign, bears the honorary title of Admiral of the Cinque Ports and has his official residence at Walmer Castle.


One of the most striking examples of this impregnation is the motto on the English royal coat of arms: Dieu et mon Droit. This comes from a password or war-cry chosen by Richard the Lionheart at the Battle of Gisors in 1198. The message is clear: the king of England is not a vassal of the king of France and he recognises only God as his ruler. In the fifteenth century, Henry VI made it the royal motto. Just as famous, Honi soit qui mal y pense is the motto of the Order of the Garter created in 1348 by Edward III. The garter was a kind of thong attached to military equipment, but people generally prefer to connect the Order with a possibly apocryphal anecdote: Edward III was supposed to have gallantly said, ‘Honi soit qui mal y pense,’ when, in 1347, the Countess of Salisbury, before the mocking eyes of the courtiers, lost one of her blue ribbon garters while dancing. Her royal lover picked it up and tied it around his own knee. Such was the origin of the most ancient order of chivalry in Europe. Its members, which include a very few foreigners, are able to contemplate their coats of arms in St George’s Chapel at Windsor. Like the gallant king, they tie a ribbon around their left knees when they are required to wear their full regalia at official ceremonies.


To this day, a great many of the heraldic devices of English aristocratic families are as French as their coats of arms. The first Anglo-Norman kings used the lion of Normandy flanked by a second lion representing England. Richard the Lionheart added a third to represent Aquitaine. The trio still adorns the royal coat of arms and the arms of England. The fleurs de lys of the French monarchy were added by Edward III when he claimed the French throne. They remained a part of the English coat of arms until the treaty of Amiens in 1802, when the English royal family finally gave up including among their titles that of king and queen of France.


Westminster and the Anglo-Norman palaces


The Normans were great builders, and they brought over from the continent artisans, masons and stone carvers to build churches, abbeys, fortresses and castles all in a specifically Anglo-Norman style. They imported stone from Caen for their earliest buildings, some of which have remained well preserved, while others have suffered or been rebuilt over the course of the centuries.


Westminster Abbey had its origins in a vow made by Edward the Confessor, the last but one of the Anglo-Saxon sovereigns, that he would make a pilgrimage to Rome if he recovered the throne of England. After his coronation, the pope relieved him of his vow on condition that he built a church dedicated to St Peter. There was already a chapel dedicated to St Peter in the west of London so Edward chose that place to build a monastery (or minster), hence the name Westminster. Inspired by the abbey of Jumièges in Normandy, he enlarged the existing structure in the Romanesque style which was already flourishing in France, and brought stone from Caen. Westminster Abbey was consecrated on 28 December 1065.


In the twelfth century, after the canonisation of Edward the Confessor, Henry III, who was devoted to his memory, decided to rebuild the abbey, enlarging and embellishing it. He admired the Gothic style of the new cathedrals being built in France and charged the architect Henri de Reims with the project. Westminster Abbey became, over the centuries, the spiritual centre of the nation, and almost every monarch has been crowned and buried there.


Edward the Confessor had also rebuilt a Saxon palace that stood on the Thames beside Westminster Abbey, and made it his principal residence. The great Hall at Westminster Palace was the most imposing part of Edward’s original construction, and William the Conqueror held a sumptuous banquet there after his coronation. In 1097 it was rebuilt by his son William II the Redhead (Rufus). It remained the centre for the monarchy until 1532, when Henry VIII moved to Whitehall. It burned down in 1834, leaving only two of the original buildings remaining: the great Hall and the Chapel of St Stephen. The Hall was incorporated into the new, nineteenth-century Palace of Westminster, the seat of Parliament. All of English history has been enacted within its walls.


William ordered the construction of the Tower of London to be begun shortly after his coronation. With its strategic position, within the walls of the newly conquered city and guarding the Thames, its purpose was to intimidate the newly conquered subjects. A temporary wooden fortress was erected at first in a restricted space, and then, in 1078, William asked the Norman monk Gandalf from the Abbey of Bec-Hellouin to build a fortress out of Caen stone which would also be a palace. Completed twenty years later, the Tower has been enlarged over the centuries, but the original building within its walls, the White Tower or Dungeon, remains intact since the days of the Conqueror. The Tower of London is the best preserved of all the medieval fortresses in England.


Numerous Frenchmen have spent time within its walls. In 1216, Louis, the French Dauphin and future Louis VIII (1187-1226), the son of and successor to Philippe Auguste, was called to help the English barons who wanted to depose King John. He held court in the Tower for a year. When it became a prison after the Battle of Crécy (1346), many French prisoners, including the six courageous Burghers of Calais, were locked up there. In the same year Charles de Blois, pretender to the duchy of Brittany, was taken prisoner by Sir Thomas Dagworth and placed in the Tower. He was handed over to the King of England in return for a ransom of 25,000 gold ecus. Without the slightest scruple, the King then demanded an even higher sum for returning him to France. In 1356, the French King Jean le Bon, his son the Dauphin Philippe and a large number of lords and knights were taken prisoner at the Battle of Poitiers. The knights were imprisoned in the Tower and Jean le Bon was held for three years in the Savoy Palace. In 1415 the ‘poet prince’ Charles, Duke of Orleans and nephew of the King of France, was captured at Agincourt; he remained a prisoner in England for twenty-five years, some of them spent in the Tower.


Another defensive fortress on the Thames, Windsor Castle, has been very well preserved: it soon became a royal residence and as such has been maintained and restored by successive kings and queens.


To the south-east of London the manor of Eltham, surrounded by moats, appears in the Domesday Book of 1086 as being the property of Odon, Bishop of Bayeux and half-brother of William the Conqueror. Edward I and Edward II often stayed there, and the latter gave it to his wife, Isabelle of France. The palace was then fortified and greatly improved. In 1316 their second son John was baptised there, and was subsequently known as John of Eltham; his handsome alabaster tomb can be seen in Westminster Abbey. Eltham became one of the most heavily used royal residences throughout the fourteenth century. King Edward III spent most of his childhood there, and returned often throughout his reign. The celebrations after the fall of Calais probably took place there, during which Edward III is thought to have created the Order of the Garter: the palace account books show that twelve blue garters, embroidered with gold and silver thread and the inscription Honi soit qui mal y pense, were the prizes for one of the jousting matches that took place beyond the moat. The royal apartments were enlarged between 1350 and 1360 and a huge park was laid out for the hunt. Richard II created a ballroom in the royal apartments and laid out a new garden. The kings’ fondness for Eltham was such that Henry IV spent ten Christmases there in the thirteen years of his reign, while Henry VI, king from infancy, spent his entire childhood there. In 1445, he enlarged the queen’s apartments in order to receive Margaret of Anjou, his new wife.


A religious revival arrives from France


In order to ensure the support of the pope, William the Conqueror and his successors set about reforming the Church in England, encouraging numerous monastic orders to come over and settle. Monks came from great Norman abbeys such as Le Bec-Hellouin, Jumièges and Saint Evroult, among them great mystics such as St Anselm of Bec, St Hugh of Lincoln and the great St Thomas Becket, son of a Norman merchant. Their abbeys and monasteries, established all over England, gained great reputations, bringing a religious revival as well as leaving behind magnificent examples of Anglo-Norman art.


In the eleventh century the Benedictine order of Cluny, which already enjoyed great intellectual prestige and renown in France, established an abbey to the south of London at Tooting Bec, which is mentioned in the Domesday Book. It was directed by the abbot of the ancient Benedictine abbey of Le Bec-Hellouin in Normandy, the future St Anselm, before he succeeded Lanfranc as Archbishop of Canterbury. The links between the monastery at Le Bec-Hellouin and the Archbishopric of Canterbury have continued to this day. Benedictines from La Charité-sur-Loire took over St Saviour’s Abbey in Bermondsey in 1089, and William Rufus, son of William the Conqueror, gave them the adjoining manor. The French Queen Catherine of Valois, widow of Henry V, died there in 1437.


The Domesday Book also mentions a monastery in Southwark under the jurisdiction of Odon of Bayeux. In 1106 two Norman knights rebuilt the church and monks of the order of St Augustine were installed in the priory. The Bishop of Winchester, Henry of Blois, William’s grandson, built Winchester Palace beside the priory as his London residence, conferring added importance to the church and the priory.


After the execution of Thomas Becket, Henry II, smitten by remorse, founded several Carthusian monasteries in England. One of them, the Charterhouse, was established in London in 1371 in Smithfield. Other monastic orders were established early in the thirteenth century: the Dominicans, Franciscans and Carmelites installed themselves respectively in the priories of Blackfriars, Greyfriars and Whitefriars. The names, from the colours of their robes, became those of the areas of the city in which they were established. Despite their vow of poverty, these orders became extremely rich and wielded great authority over civil society and even over the crown itself. After the dissolution of the Order of the Templars, several of these monasteries took over their financial activities, which contributed to their prosperity. In the sixteenth century the richest orders were dissolved by Henry VIII, who appropriated their lands and wealth. All these religious orders had been generously endowed by the first Norman kings or their French wives, and had built their abbeys and churches in the same Romanesque or Gothic style as their monasteries back in France. Today a few remnants of this time can still be seen in London, both in the architecture and in the names of places.


The crusades gave rise to a new type of priest, the soldier monk. The Order of the Templars, founded in 1118 by the French Hugues de Payen to protect pilgrims in the Holy Land, settled in London in 1162. Its military spirituality inspired confidence among kings and the richer crusaders, who entrusted them with the management of their properties. The order became immensely rich and, forgetting their vow of poverty, its members transformed themselves into businessmen and bankers. When enthusiasm for the Crusades began to wane, the Order, deprived of its primary purpose, embarked on such blatantly temporal pursuits that it aroused a campaign of defamation which culminated in its dissolution. In France, where Philippe le Bel made unfounded accusations of criminal behaviour against it, its members were tortured and condemned to death. In England they were treated more humanely by Edward II, and the Temple was absorbed into the Order of the Hospitallers of St John of Jerusalem. This order, created in 1113 to care for the sick during crusades and pilgrimages to the Holy Land, exists to this day, running the St John Ambulances which supply first aid at large public gatherings.







Places to visit


THE TOWER OF LONDON


William the Conqueror ordered the building of the Tower as soon as he had been crowned king of England in December 1066. It is strategically placed overlooking the Thames and the newly conquered city. An earlier wooden fort was replaced in 1078 by a fortress of Caen stone that was also a palace with an adjoining chapel. It was protected on two sides by an old Roman wall and the river, with a ditch and a rampart on the other two sides. Completed twenty years later, the Tower of London was enlarged several times over the centuries but the original building, the White Tower with its four small towers, has remained intact since the days of William the Conqueror. It is the best preserved medieval fortress in England.


CASTLE BAYNARD


Castle Baynard Street EC4


In the south-west of the City, this fortress, named after its owner the Norman lord Ralph Baynard, was part of a series built to protect the city after the Conquest. The name of the street is the only surviving clue to its existence, as the castle was completely destroyed by the great fire of 1666. A large part of the action in Shakespeare’s Richard III takes place in this castle.


MONTFICHET CASTLE


Blackfriars Thameslink Station EC4


To the north-west of Castle Baynard, Montfichet Castle was built by Gilbert de Montfichet of Rouen, a companion of the Conqueror, on the site of the present Blackfriars Thameslink station. It was destroyed during the reign of John Lackland.


WINDSOR CASTLE, BERKSHIRE


William the Conqueror chose the only raised ground in the area to build the artificial moat and dungeon here in 1080, in order to protect it from the Thames which flowed thirty metres below. The layout of the land allowed him to build two courtyards, the upper and lower wards. In 1170, Henry II replaced the wooden dungeon with a stone tower, the Round Tower, which still dominates the castle. Although it was originally planned as a defensive building, it became a royal residence thanks to its proximity to London and its hunting lodge, and thirty-nine sovereigns have lived there. The castle underwent many transformations over the centuries, with the addition of towers, royal apartments and chapels. King Edward III was the first to make changes in 1352, erecting new buildings in the lower ward for the College of St George’s. This became the home of the Order of the Garter, whose patron saint is St George. The castle was damaged during the Civil War, when Cromwell made it his headquarters, and restored under Charles II. It was renovated once again under George IV in the nineteenth century and filled with numerous works of art sold after the French Revolution. Queen Victoria often stayed there. Restored once again after the fire of 1992, the castle is nowadays both a royal residence and one of the most popular museums in England. The reigning monarch spends a month there at Easter every year.


St George’s Chapel, the chapel of the Order of the Garter. The coats of arms of the members of the Order can be seen on the choir stalls, with their names and French mottos. Every year in June the members of the Order hold a splendid service here, followed by lunch in the castle.


WESTMINSTER ABBEY


20 Deans Yard SW1


Rebuilt by Edward the Confessor, the abbey is the repository of English history. From William the Conqueror until the end of the Middle Ages, many signs of the French presence in London can be found in its various chapels.


St Edward’s Chapel


•  Tomb of Edward the Confessor, behind the sanctuary. His wife Edith Godwin is buried beside him.


•  Inscriptions in Old French on the tombs of other kings and queens, among them that of Henry III Plantagenet, husband of Eleanor of Provence. Others are engraved on the tomb of Eleanor of Castile, wife of Edward I, who died in 1290.


•  Tomb of Edward III, son of Isabelle of France.


•  Tomb of Philippa of Hainault, wife of Edward III, marble statue by French sculptor Jean (or Hennequin) of Liège. The Burghers of Calais were spared thanks to her intervention.


•  Tomb of Henry V, King of England and heir to the French throne after the Battle of Agincourt. The coffin of his French wife Catherine de Valois was only placed beside him in 1878.


Henry VII’s Chapel. After Henry V’s death, Catherine of Valois had three more sons from her marriage to a Welsh courtier, Owen Tudor. One of their grandsons became the first Tudor King, Henry VII. The chapel of Henry VII is famous for its fan-shaped roof. It is dedicated to the Order of the Bath, and several of the mottos of the knights are in French. This Order is sometimes bestowed on foreigners, such as President Jacques Chirac in 1996.


St Edmund’s Chapel


•  Tomb of William of Valence, Lord of Pembroke and Wexford (died at Bayonne in 1296), son of the French ex-Queen of England Isabelle d’Angoulême and of Hugues de Lusignan by her second marriage. His effigy, made of oak coated with bronze, is encrusted with Limoges enamels which can still be seen on the cushion, the shield and the belt.


•  Tomb of John of Eltham, Earl of Cornwall, second son of Edward II and Isabelle of France. Alabaster recumbent statue; around the tomb, very damaged small crowned statuettes represent members of his family, Queen Marguerite of France, second wife of Edward I, and Queen Isabelle of France, his mother.


Chapter House. This octagonal room with a central pillar dates from the thirteenth century. It is remarkable for its proportions, its fourteenth-century frescoes and its original thirteenth-century paving on which one can see Edward the Confessor giving his ring to a beggar, King Henry III playing with a dog and his wife Eleanor of Provence with a falcon on her hand.


Crypt and Museum. The museum is in the crypt, the most ancient part of the abbey. The semicircular arches and the massive pillars supporting the crypt date from Edward the Confessor’s Norman construction. At that time it was a communal hall used by the monks. Among the collection of funerary effigies is a moving one of Catherine de Valois, wife of Henry V.


PALACE OF WESTMINSTER


Parliament Square SW1. Of the original Palace of Westminster built by Edward the Confessor on the site of an ancient Saxon palace, only Westminster Hall and the crypt of St Stephen’s chapel survived the fire of 1834.


Westminster Hall, behind the statue of Cromwell, embedded in the Parliament building. The most important building in Edward the Confessor’s old palace, this was where feasts were held during the great religious festivals. Rebuilt in 1097 by William II Rufus, Westminster Hall was at the time the largest assembly room of all the courts of Europe. It was a centre for government, where the King’s council and a court of justice were held until 1883, as well as all coronation banquets from William the Conqueror to George IV in 1820. The ‘king’s champion’ would ride into the hall on a horse and defy anyone to challenge the legitimacy of a new king. In 1393, Richard II removed the Norman pillars and built a new wooden hammer-beam, one of the finest in England. Angels on each flying buttress bear his arms. Kings and queens lie in state in Westminster Hall before burial – an honour that was, exceptionally, accorded to Winston Churchill in 1965. The Queen Mother’s coffin lay in state for a week in April 2002, to allow the British people to pay their last respects. Two French presidents have had the rare privilege of addressing Parliament in Westminster Hall: Albert Lebrun in 1939 and Charles de Gaulle in 1960.


St Stephen’s Hall. St Stephen’s Gate, the public entrance, and the Hall have the same layout as the splendid original chapel, inspired by the Sainte-Chapelle in Paris. It served as the chamber of the Commons from 1548 until the fire of 1834.


St Mary’s Crypt. Many original sculptures and frescoes were discovered here, spared from the fire, during restoration works.


ELTHAM PALACE


Court Yard, Eltham SE9


To the south-east of London, the manor of Eltham, whose foundations can still be seen in the gardens, was built by Odon, William the Conqueror’s half-brother. It was a royal dwelling under Edward II, and became the favourite home of the medieval kings. It seems that the Order of the Garter was created here after the celebration of the fall of Calais in 1348: the palace accounts tell us that twelve blue garters embroidered with silver and gold and inscribed ‘Honi soit qui mal y pense’ were awarded as prizes at a joust. Only the moats remain from the original medieval building. The Great Hall, built around 1475 by Edward IV, is very well preserved with its magnificent huge oak frame. Partly rebuilt by the Courtauld family in 1933, Eltham Palace has a remarkable Art Deco interior.


THE BURGHERS OF CALAIS


Victoria Tower Gardens SW1


The burghers of Calais were saved thanks to Philippa of Hainault, but were sent to the Tower of London. Rodin chose the position for this copy of his famous sculpture in 1915 (the original has been in Calais since 1895). After reading Froissart, Rodin chose to depict the moment when the six burghers are ‘in shirts, bare-headed and barefoot, with ropes around their necks’, before they are spared. Eustache de Saint-Pierre is their leader, surrendering the keys of the town. Rodin said of the work: ‘I have rarely produced a sketch with so much vigour and solemnity. Eustache de Saint-Pierre alone, with his dignified movement, carries along his family and friends . . .’


WALMER CASTLE


Kingsdown Road, Walmer, Deal, Kent


The official residence of the Warden of the Cinque Ports. Because of their strategic positions on the south coast, these five ports – Hastings, Hythe, Dover, Romney and Sandwich – ensured maritime defences and transport between England and Normandy, supplying ships and equipment in exchange for privileges and tax exemptions.


SAVOY HOTEL


Strand WC2


A statue of Peter of Savoy, uncle of Queen Eleanor of Provence, overlooks the entrance. He is shown in medieval costume with a large shield and lance. The 1904 bronze sculpture is by Frank Lynn Jenkins.


COATS OF ARMS


100 Strand WC2


A series of coats of arms belonging to the king of England and the house of Savoy on the facade of Simpson’s.


SAVOY CHAPEL


Savoy Hill WC2


After a fire, the chapel was partly rebuilt in 1864. Still with its original graveyard, it is now surrounded by large modern buildings behind the Strand. The chapel is endowed with the Royal Victorian Order and has special status as the queen’s chapel. Inside are several mottos in French belonging to members of the Order.


NATIONAL ARCHIVES


Kew, Richmond, Surrey


The Doomsday Book is one of the most valuable objects from the Conquest era. Published around 1086, this inventory is the first land register made in England. It is extremely detailed and has served as a reference in litigations for centuries. It defines existing lands to this day.


THE WORSHIPFUL COMPANY OF BOWYERS


These companies still exist in the City as closed groups of businessmen sharing their experiences. They are extremely rich and own splendid ancient buildings. They still have power at the heart of London, under the aegis of the Lord Mayor, and run their own charitable enterprises. The Company of Bowyers have as their motto ‘Crecy, Poitiers, Agincourt’.


AGINCOURT ROAD


Hampstead NW3


The Battle of Agincourt on 25 October 1415 saw Henry V’s archers inflict a cruel defeat on the French who greatly outnumbered them.


BUCKINGHAM PALACE MENUS


To this day, menus at the royal table are in French, according to tradition.


RICHARD THE LIONHEART’S LIONS


Sculpted lions can be found everywhere in London, notably in the City and along the banks of the Thames. They are reminders of the Norman origin of this emblem chosen by the first Anglo-Norman kings for their armouries.


FLEURS DE LYS


These adorn the walls of many palaces and churches, in particular Westminster Abbey.


CHARTERHOUSE


Charterhouse Square EC1


After the dissolution of the monasteries, the Carthusians’ headquarters became in turn a private house, an almshouse and a school. Today the Charterhouse shelters forty pensioners. The neighbouring hospital, St Bartholomew’s, better known as Bart’s, has taken back some of the monastery buildings for its medical students. Neighbouring streets are named Charter or Carthusian.


CHURCH OF ST BARTHOLOMEW THE GREAT


West Smithfield EC1


Unscathed by the great fire of 1666, the church is a rare and architecturally interesting example of the Anglo-Norman style in London. In front of the effigy of the founder, Rahere, to the left of the altar, is an angel bearing the coat of arms of the monastery: the two lions of Normandy with two crowns.


CHRIST CHURCH TOWER


Corner of Newgate Street and King Edward Street EC1


The Franciscans, or Greyfriars, came to this area in the thirteenth century and their Gothic church was one of the biggest in London. Queen Isabelle of France and Queen Marguerite of France were buried there, as well as the heart of Eleanor of Provence, another French queen of England. When the order was dissolved by Henry VIII, the church was given to the City of London, and the monastery buildings used as a hospital. Destroyed in the great fire of 1666, the church was rebuilt by Wren in the baroque style. Once again destroyed during the Blitz, only four walls and the tower remained; the tower was converted into flats. The site, comprising just a few remains of the church and the graveyard, is now a memorial garden.


ST MARY LE BOW


Cheapside EC2


The church was built in 1080 by Lanfranc, who had come from the abbey of Le Bec-Hellouin in Normandy and was made Archbishop of Canterbury by William the Conqueror. It was built in Caen stone. All that remains of that period is the well-preserved crypt, with its massive pillars and arches.


BLACKFRIARS BRIDGE


Blackfriars Lane EC4


On the site of Montfichet Castle, destroyed under John Lackland, the Dominican or Blackfriars’ monastery was built with stone from the castle in 1278. The area and the bridge were named after them. The Apothecaries’ Hall now stands on the site of the monastery guest house.


•  Commemorative plaque


    Carter Lane EC4


    This plaque commemorates the Blackfriars Priory founded at this spot in 1278


WHITEFRIARS STREET AND CARMELITE STREET EC4


The Carmelites, or Whitefriars, established their monastery between Westminster and the City, beside the Thames. Strategically placed between the two centres of power, the king and the City, it became an important building in which several kings held their councils. The two streets are now the only reminders of its presence.


SOUTHWARK CATHEDRAL


South Bank, London Bridge SE1


The original Norman structure was destroyed by fire in 1212 and rebuilt in the Gothic style with the help of the Bishop of Winchester who lived in the neighbouring palace. The first Gothic church in London, it was partially rebuilt in the nineteenth century but some Norman remains may still be seen.


WINCHESTER PALACE


Clink Street SE1


A short distance further along the Thames, a wall with a magnificent rose window is all that remains of Winchester Palace, built in 1140 by Henry of Blois, Bishop of Winchester and grandson of William the Conqueror. The palace had its own prison, the Clink, which came under the jurisdiction of the bishop. It was destroyed by fire in 1780, and the palace itself in another fire in 1814.


ABBEY STREET, ST SAVIOUR BRIDGE, ST SAVIOUR WHARF


SE1


These names commemorate the site of St Saviour’s Abbey in Bermondsey, founded by the monks of Cluny in 1089.


TOOTING BEC


SW16


Tooting Bec, with its common and underground station, gets its name from the Norman abbey of le Bec-Hellouin. According to the Domesday Book, the land belonged to the abbey, which installed gallows there in 1258. It was seized by Edward II and returned to the French abbey by Edward III. Tooting Bec Abbey was built on the old road from London to Winchester and Chichester, well situated and with an abundance of water. The buildings were at the junction of Bedford Hill, Hillbury Road and Tooting Bec Common.


•  Becmead Road SW16


    This road gets its name from Bec Meadow.


ST ANSELM’S CHURCH


311 Balham High Road SW17


St Anselm was the prior of the abbey of le Bec-Hellouin before coming to Tooting Bec Abbey. The Roman Catholic church of St Anselm was rebuilt in 1933 on the site of a chapel at the corner of Tooting Bec Road and Balham High Road.


WANDSWORTH TOWN HALL


Wandsworth High Street SW18


St Anselm is depicted on a bas relief visiting the Totinges (Tooting) tribe.


TEMPLE CHURCH


Temple EC4


The Order of the Templars, supported by Henry I when it came to England, was well established by the second half of the twelfth century. Their first church was built in Holborn, and their second, the Temple Church, was built closer to the Thames and consecrated in 1185 by the Patriarch of Jerusalem in the presence of Henry II. The adjoining monastery has disappeared. This church is circular in shape, like most of the Templar churches, as a reminder of the Holy Sepulchre in Jerusalem. A rectangular choir and a chapel were added in the thirteenth century to enable Henry III to be buried there, but he changed his mind and is buried in Westminster Abbey. The church escaped the great fire of 1666 but has been restored several times over the centuries. In the oldest part, the rotunda, lie nine magnificent effigies of knights armed with chain mail, swords and shields. One of them is that of William Marshal, Earl of Pembroke and brother-in-law of John Lackland, who died in 1219. He is represented with his legs crossed, like most of the Crusaders. All around the circular church, grimacing masks are reminders of the strange and controversial Templar initiation ceremonies. At the junction of the rotunda and the choir, two narrow windows on the left opening on to the choir reveal a cell from which imprisoned Templars could hear Mass. One of them was locked in there until he died of hunger, for having disobeyed the orders of the Grand Master of the order. The windows, destroyed in the Blitz and replaced in 1954, depict the history of the Templars. In the Middle Ages justice was dispensed beneath the Romanesque entrance porch on the west side of the church.


EQUESTRIAN STATUE OF TWO TEMPLARS


In Temple Court, where the cloister used to be, a Gothic-style column bearing a statue of two knights on one horse was erected in the year 2000. This image was inspired by the Templars’ seal and symbolised their vow of poverty. Later, when they stood accused of heresy, the symbol was interpreted as a sign of homosexuality. The statue is by Nicola Hicks.


THE TEMPLE DISTRICT


The surrounding area is now named after the Templars’ church. When the Hospitallers took possession of the Templars’ property, they let some of the buildings around the church to the clerks of justice, and the area has kept its legal connection to this day: many lawyers’ chambers and law schools are based in this picturesque maze of courtyards, passageways and buildings. The two courts of justice, the Inner and Middle Temple, are responsible for the upkeep of the Templars’ church according to a royal charter of 1608. The coats of arms in these courts illustrate their links with the history of the Templars.


CHURCH OF ST JOHN


St John’s Lane, Clerkenwell EC1


The priory of the Hospitallers’ Order was built at the beginning of the twelfth century, destroyed during the Peasants’ Revolt in 1381, then rebuilt. The order was dissolved by Henry VIII in 1540. Stones from the building were used for the construction of Somerset House beside the Thames, and the church was put to various different uses through the centuries. The Order of the Hospitallers of St John of Jerusalem was rehabilitated in 1831, and reoccupied its church a century later.


•  Museum of the Order of St John. The museum acts as a link between the order’s past and present.


•  St John Ambulance Brigade. Still active as a charitable enterprise, this offers emergency medical services dispensed by the Order of the Hospitallers of St John, successors to the Templars.


MUSEUM OF LONDON


150 London Wall EC2


Objects and explanations relating to the Norman Conquest can be found In the medieval section. There are also some displays in glass cases on the monastic orders of the time, and the closure of monasteries under Henry VIII.


VICTORIA & ALBERT MUSEUM


Cromwell Road SW7


The Becket Casket. Thomas Becket was a typical Anglo-Norman: the son of Norman parents who had arrived in London during the Conquest. He was a part of the entourage of the Norman court, and eventually became Archbishop of Canterbury, the highest clerical position in the English church. Although he was a friend and counsellor to King Henry II, he remained intractable when it came to the independence of the church. Henry, exasperated, had him assassinated in the cathedral. The murder caused a scandal throughout Europe and Thomas was canonised only three years after his death. His relics are divided among many caskets, mostly preserved in monasteries. The one in the Victoria & Albert was manufactured in Limoges between 1180 and 1190, and represents several scenes from the murder of Thomas, as well as his burial and ascension into Heaven. It is one of the museum’s most important treasures.
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EXCEPTIONAL PEOPLE


‘Princes, pass by without lingering: yours shall be the land of England, conquered in the past by a Norman. Valiant heart can at all times wage war’


EUSTACHE DESCHAMPS, Oeuvres, VI, 73


The Conqueror


The centuries following the Norman Conquest are populated with major figures and men of destiny on both sides of the Channel, the most important being of course the one introduced to us in that marvel of Western art and precursor of the comic strip, the Bayeux Tapestry. Hic est Willelm Dux (‘Here is Duke William’) proclaims the fifty-fifth panel. This complex and contrasted man, the founder of a legitimate dynasty, was himself the illegitimate son, born in Falaise around 1027, of Robert the Magnificent, Duke of Normandy, and Arlette, the daughter of a rich tanner of the town. However, the Duke had no qualms about naming him as his successor when he set off on a pilgrimage to Jerusalem. When he died during the homeward journey in 1035 William was only eight years old; the revolts of the petty barons made him fear for his life, and he was forced, when hardly old enough to bear arms, to battle against the turbulent Norman barons and the neighbouring princes.


Physically, the Conqueror was a tall man with a high forehead and a loud voice that would ring out during his terrible rages. He loved hunting and demolished villages without compunction in order to create the New Forest, which exists to this day in the south of England. We know something of his life from the writings of the chronicler William of Malmesbury: ‘He loved the pleasures of the chase above all things […]. He would organise great entertainments during the main Christian festivals: when he was in England he would spend Christmas in Gloucester, Easter in Winchester and Pentecost in Westminster.’2 He was energetic and could also be cruel: a revolt in the city of York was harshly suppressed in 1070, the town razed and the countryside around ravaged. When he was in England he lived in the Tower of London, and when he travelled to Normandy he would leave the governance of the country to his half-brother Odon, Bishop of Bayeux, to whom he gave the county of Kent.


William, however, could be merciful when he judged it necessary. We are told in one Anglo-Saxon chronicle that ‘King William was a man of great wisdom and great power. He surpassed all his contemporaries in honours and in authority. He was exceedingly severe on those who resisted his will, but gentle with virtuous men who served God.’3 He displayed admirable statesmanship in the way he organised the Conquest and rallied the church to his side by giving it an important part to play in the new order. In 1053, defying opposition from the Pope, he had married his fourth cousin Matilda, the daughter of Baudouin of Flanders and niece of the King of France, Henri I. He had her crowned Queen of England on Pentecost 1068, and he always remained faithfully attached to the mother of his nine children. Her death in 1083 was a severe blow: ‘At her death, which occurred four years before his own, he had her buried with great pomp and shed so many tears, and for so many days, that he proved how harshly he suffered her loss; also, if we are to believe what they say, he never again enjoyed the pleasures of the flesh.’4


He was a pious monarch, attending Mass every morning; he built chapels in all his palaces and churches all over England: Winchester, St Albans, Norwich, Chichester, Gloucester, Durham and Battle, the scene of his victory over Harold. During his childhood he had strengthened his faith with Lanfranc, the impressive bishop of the abbey of Le Bec-Hellouin, whom he now made archbishop of Canterbury. He possessed a strong sense of justice: if one is to believe the chronicler Orderic Vital, nobody asked the King in vain for a fair judgement. He would only condemn when it would have been unjust not to. Many contemporaries, whilst recognising his exceptional qualities as war leader and statesman, criticised his greed, however, when it came to money: ‘He seized every opportunity to procure it, it little mattered to him in what manner; he was capable of saying and doing certain things unworthy of such a great king when motivated by the prospect of financial gain.’5


William’s life was overshadowed, even before the loss of his wife, by the death in 1074 of his son Richard in a hunting accident. He also had a difficult relationship with other members of his family, his son Robert Curthose in particular, whose thirst for power drove him to ally himself with the King of France. In 1079, in battle against his father, he went so far as to wound him with a sword-thrust to the arm which knocked him off his horse. Matilda was obliged to intervene in order to end the quarrel. William also had to punish his ambitious and very rich half-brother Odon for his abuse of power. In 1082 he personally arrested him and sent him for trial for corruption: Odon remained imprisoned in a tower in Rouen until the death of the King.


William the Conqueror, by now obese, died in 1087, aged sixty, from the consequences of a wound caused by the pommel of his saddle while once more suppressing a revolt in Normandy by nobles allied to the King of France. His funeral was comically grotesque: his body, in too narrow a coffin, exploded, giving out a pestilential odour which drove clergy and congregation from the church. His tomb is in the church of St Étienne in the Abbaye aux Hommes in Caen. His sons divided up his kingdom: Robert Curthose took Normandy, and William Rufus England. Henry I Beauclerc reunited the two when he took the English crown after the death of his brother William in 1100 after a hunting accident. He then recaptured Normandy in 1106 after capturing Robert Curthose. The latter then remained in captivity for twenty-eight years, first in the castle at Devizes, and then in Cardiff until his death in 1134. He is buried in Gloucester Cathedral.


The story of the conquest and of William’s life is told in the Bayeux Tapestry, and also in several chronicles – in English, that of William of Malmesbury, and in French, those of William of Jumièges, William of Poitiers, WIlliam’s chaplain and Orderic Vital.


Miseries of the French Queens


From the middle of the twelfth century until the end of the Hundred Years’ War in 1453, nine of the wives of the fifteen reigning sovereigns were French – twelve if one includes two princesses of Navarre and Philippa of Hainault. They often brought with them as dowries strategic and important territories: Matilda of Boulogne brought the county of Boulogne and Eleanor brought Aquitaine. Such provinces assured England of a considerable foothold in France. Isabelle of Angoulême added the county of Angoulême.


These queens were often betrothed at a very young age, with the only purpose of ensuring a link to the French royal family to seal an alliance after a war. Thus Henry V married Catherine of Valois, the daughter of the French King Charles VI, after the battle of Agincourt in 1415. Those kings who loved war and adventure – Henry II, Richard the Lionheart and Edward I – would take their wives with them on military campaigns and crusades: Eleanor of Aquitaine, Bérengère of Navarre and Margaret of France. The weaker ones – Stephen of Blois, Henry III, Edward II and Henry VI – would leave their wives to run the state more or less successfully: Matilda of Boulogne, Eleanor of Provence, Isabelle of France and Margaret of Anjou. The frivolous and unfaithful kings – Henry II, John Lackland and Edward II – drove their wives to take revenge, as Eleanor of Aquitaine did, or to lead a dissipated life, as was the case with Isabelle of Angoulême. As for Isabelle of France, she took a lover and deposed her husband, who came to a tragic end.


OEBPS/text/nav.xhtml


Table of Contents







		Cover



		Title Page



		Copyright



		Contents



		Preface



		1. Norman England



		2. Exceptional people



		3. Bourbons and Stuarts



		4. A Country for the Huguenots



		5. Enlightenment vs ‘Siècle des Lumières’



		6. Refugees from the Revolution



		7. Napoleon, the mortal enemy



		8. London, a sanctuary for the politically persecuted



		9. Romantic visitors



		10. The great invasion of the nineteenth century



		11. Allies and brothers-in-arms



		12. A shared modernity



		13. London, capital of Free France



		Epilogue



		Genealogies



		Notes



		Bibliography



		Picture credits











Guide





		Cover



		Contents



		Title Page













		1



		2



		3



		4



		5



		6



		7



		8



		9



		10



		11



		12



		13



		14



		15



		16



		17



		18



		19



		20



		21



		22



		23



		24



		25



		26



		27



		28



		29



		30



		31



		32



		33



		34



		35



		36



		37



		38



		39



		40



		41



		42



		43



		44



		45



		46



		47



		48



		49



		50



		51



		52



		53



		54



		55



		56



		57



		58



		59



		60



		61



		62



		63



		64



		65



		66



		67



		68



		69



		70



		71



		72



		73



		74



		75



		76



		77



		78



		79



		80



		81



		82



		83



		84



		85



		86



		87



		88



		89



		90



		91



		92



		93



		94



		95



		96



		97



		98



		99



		100



		101



		102



		103



		104



		105



		106



		107



		108



		109



		110



		111



		112



		113



		114



		115



		116



		117



		118



		119



		120



		121



		122



		123



		124



		125



		126



		127



		128



		129



		130



		131



		132



		133



		134



		135



		136



		137



		138



		139



		140



		141



		142



		143



		144



		145



		146



		147



		148



		149



		150



		151



		152



		153



		154



		155



		156



		157



		158



		159



		160



		161



		162



		163



		164



		165



		166



		167



		168



		169



		170



		171



		172



		173



		174



		175



		176



		177



		178



		179



		180



		181



		182



		183



		184



		185



		186



		187



		188



		189



		190



		191



		192



		193



		194



		195



		196



		197



		198



		199



		200



		201



		202



		203



		204



		205



		206



		207



		208



		209



		210



		211



		212



		213



		214



		215



		216



		217



		218



		219



		220



		221



		222



		223



		224



		225



		226



		227



		228



		229



		230



		231



		232



		233



		234



		235



		236



		237



		238



		239



		240



		241



		242



		243



		244



		245



		246



		247



		248



		249



		250



		251



		252



		253



		254



		255



		256



		257



		258











OEBPS/images/halftitle.jpg
e FRENCH
~ LONDON





OEBPS/images/9781908524669.jpg





OEBPS/images/title.jpg
e FRENCH
N~ LONDON

From William the Conqueror
to Charles de Gaulle

ISABELLE JANVRIN
CATHERINE RAWLINSON

WILMINGTON SQUARE BOOKS
An imprint of Bitter Lemon Press






